#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LUIGY RICHARD LOPEZ-DELGADO	)	Electronically Filed Jul 22 2019 01:32 p.m Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Cou	
Appellant,	)	Case No. 78472	
	)		
VS.	)		
	)		
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)		
	)		
Respondent.	)		
•	)		

Appeal from Judgment of Conviction Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada The Honorable Jerome Polaha

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

MARC PICKER
Washoe County Alternate Public Defender

CHRISTOPHER HICKS
Washoe County District Attorney

1 South Sierra St., 4<sup>th</sup> Floor
RENO, NEVADA 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

## I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a sentencing hearing held March 14, 2019, (Joint Appendix pages 71-92) and the Judgment of Conviction filed on March 15, 2019, (JA pages 48-49) Corrected Judgment of Conviction filed March 18, 2019 (JA pages 50-51) and Second Corrected Judgment of Conviction (JA pages 69-70). Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. NRAP 4(b); (JA pages 56-57).

## II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is appropriately assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(1) because it is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based upon a plea of guilty, and challenges only the sentence imposed.

## III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

The district court abused its discretion in sentencing Luigy Richard Lopez-Delgado to sentences of 48 to 120 months for Statutory Sexual Seduction by Person Age 21 or Older, with a consecutive sentence of 28 to 72 months for Possess Visual Pornography of Person Under Age 16, and an additional concurrent sentence of 48 to 120 months for Lewdness with a Child Older than 14 despite compelling mitigation evidence. A new sentencing is warranted.

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Luigy Richard Lopez-Delgado (hereinafter "Mr. Lopez-Delgado")

On December 13, 2018, Mr. Lopez-Delgado pleaded guilty to Statutory Sexual Seduction by Person Age 21 or Older, a violation of NRS 200.368.1, a category B felony; Possess Visual Pornography of Person Under Age 16, a violation of NRS 200.730.1, a category B felony; and Lewdness with a Child Older than 14, a violation of NRS 201.230.3, a category B felony. (JA pages 19-26, Guilty Plea Memorandum). Thereafter, he was sentenced to a term of incarceration of 48 to 120 months for Statutory Sexual Seduction by Person Age 21 or Older, with 456 days credit for time served, with a consecutive sentence of 28 to 72 months for Possess Visual Pornography of Person Under Age 16, and an additional concurrent sentence of 48 to 120 months for Lewdness with a Child Older than 14. (JA pages 69-70, Second Corrected Judgment of Conviction).

Mr. LOPEZ-DELGADO is 25 years of age with no significant criminal history, other than some traffic violations. He has not had any failures to appear on any such citations. (See, Pre-Sentence Investigation Report, filed under seal) He has admitted in culpability in this matter, recognizing that his actions were legally unacceptable. He stipulated in the Guilty Plea Memorandum to join with the State to recommend that he receive a sentence of 48-120 months on Count II, 28-72 months on Count IV and 48-120 months on Count VI, and that all sentences run concurrent to one another. Mr. LOPEZ-DELGADO had been in custody for almost one (1) year at the time of the sentencing. At sentencing, Mr. LOPEZ-DELGADO

presented documentation of significant family support. (JA pages 44-47) He also presented his extremely limited criminal history, as well as his remorse regarding the victim in the present case. He provided information that he had been employed full-time prior to his arrest and that he was capable of obtaining new employment.

As the evidence at sentencing further showed, Mr. Lopez-Delgado has no history of violence or aggressive behavior, nor a general disregard for the rights of others including the rights of females. (See, Psycho-Sexual Risk Assessment, Page 7, filed under seal) He has struggled with substance abuse and some depression issues throughout his adult life. (See, Psychological Evaluation, filed under seal) Despite this, he was determined not to be a high risk to reoffend by Sheri J. Hixon-Brenenstall, Ph.D., who performed a psycho-sexual evaluation for the Nevada Division of Parole and Probation. (See, PSI and Psycho-Sexual Evaluation, filed under seal).

Dr. Hixon-Brenenstall described Mr. Lopez-Delgado as a moderate risk to reoffend, and that he had expressed willingness to participate in both sex-offense specific treatment and substance abuse treatment. (See, PSI and Psycho-Sexual Evaluation, filed under seal).

In addition to Dr. Hixon-Brenenstall's report, Mr. Lopez-Delgado relied upon letters provided to the court from his family. Those letters, without exception,

noted that he was a good father to his children as well as supportive of friends and family. (JA pages 45-46).

Mr. Lopez-Delgado expressed genuine remorse at the sentencing hearing, expressing concern for the future well-being of the victim in this case. He also expressed concern for the negative impact his crimes would have on his family. (JA pages 87-88)

Mr. Lopez-Delgado did not request that he be granted probation, rather acknowledged that his crimes required incarceration and that is the reason for the stipulated sentence. (JA pages 74-75) The parties both argued in favor of sentences of 48-120 months on Count II, 28-72 months on Count IV and 48-120 months on Count VI, and that all sentences run concurrent to one another. (JA pages 74-75 and 84-85.)

Mitigating factors offered in favor of Mr. Lopez-Delgado included his age, his lack of criminal history including his lack of violence and his genuine remorse for the victim. In addition, the psycho-sexual evaluation provided further information that supported the sentence agreed upon and recommended by the parties, as outlined above.

Despite all of the mitigation evidence provided, the court sentenced Mr. Lopez-Delgado to 48 to 120 months for Statutory Sexual Seduction by Person Age 21 or Older, with a consecutive sentence of 28 to 72 months for Possess Visual

Pornography of Person Under Age 16, and an additional concurrent sentence of 48 to 120 months for Lewdness with a Child Older than 14. See, Second Corrected Judgment of Conviction (JA pages 69-70)

#### V. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

At Mr. Lopez-Delgado's sentencing, the court abused its discretion by failing to properly weigh the mitigation evidence provided and sentenced him to maximum consecutive terms of imprisonment on both charges.

## VI. ARGUMENT

The district court abused its discretion in sentencing Luigy Richard Lopez-Delgado to sentences of 48 to 120 months for Statutory Sexual Seduction by Person Age 21 or Older, with a consecutive sentence of 28 to 72 months for Possess Visual Pornography of Person Under Age 16, and an additional concurrent sentence of 48 to 120 months for Lewdness with a Child Older than 14 despite compelling mitigation evidence. A new sentencing is warranted.

It is true that a Judge is allowed wide discretion in sentencing matters. See Houk v. State, 103 Nev. 659, 747 P.2d 1376 (1987); see also, Deveroux v. State, 96 Nev. 388, 610 P.2d 711 (1980).

NRS 176.015(3)(b) provides that, before a district court imposes sentence, a victim may "[r]easonably express any views concerning the crime, the person responsible, the impact of the crime on the victim and the need for restitution." This is commonly referred to as the "victim impact statement." A victim's interests

must be balanced with those due process rights afforded to a criminal defendant. State v. Bauscher, 106 Nev. 890, 804 P.2d 1046 (1990).

A sentencing decision is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Silks v. State*, 92 Nev. 91, 545 P.2d 1149 (1976); *Arajakis v. State*, 108 Nev. 976, 843 P.2d 800 (1992); *Parrish v. State*, 116 Nev. 982, 12 P.3d 953 (2000) (a court's discretion is not limitless). An abuse of discretion occurs when prejudice to the defendant results from the fact that the sentencing court relied upon "information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence." *See Silks*, 92 Nev. at 94, 545 P.2d at 1161; *see also, Castillo v. State*, 110 Nev. 535, 874 P.2d 1252 (1994) (overruled on other grounds) (a new sentencing is required when a court relies upon prejudicial information at the time of sentencing).

Futhermore, while it is the function of the Legislature to set penalties and ranges, it is the judge's job to decide what penalty to impose. *Mendoza-Lobos v. State*, 125 Nev. 634, 644, 218 P.3d 501, 507 (2009). In deciding the appropriate sentence, a district court is required to consider mitigating factors. *See* NRS 197.163.

In pronouncing the sentence in the instant case, the court failed to address or show it had considered any of the mitigating information provided by Mr. LopezDelgado, instead stating "This is a very upsetting and disgusting set of facts ..."

(JA page 89, Transcript of Proceedings - Sentencing)

The court failed to note that Mr. Lopez-Delgado had been found not to be a

high risk to reoffend, nor did it appear to consider his age and lack of criminal

history. The court appears to have failed to weigh any of that information or the

recommendation of the parties in pronouncing the sentences in this case.

The court failed to properly consider and weigh this significant mitigation

evidence in pronouncing the sentence in this case. Given all of this, Luigy Richard

Lopez-Delgado should receive a new sentencing, before a different district court

judge.

VII. CONCLUSION

For the reasons put forth above, Luigy Richard Lopez-Delgado respectfully

requests that this case be remanded for a new sentencing, before a different district

court judge.