#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LUIGY RICHARD LOPEZ-DELGADO.

No. 78472

Electronically Filed Aug 20 2019 11:03 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF** 

MARC PICKER CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS

**Washoe County Alternate Washoe County District Attorney** 

Public Defender 350 South Center Street, 6th floor **KEVIN NAUGHTON** 

Reno, Nevada 89501 **Appellate Deputy** 

One South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89520

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

# **

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 27, 2017, a Juvenile Probation Officer reported to the Washoe County Sheriff's Office that Appellant Luigy Richard Lopez-Delgado ("Lopez-Delgado") had been having sex with the 14-year-old victim, H.T. Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI")<sup>1</sup> p. 5, Joint Appendix ("JA") p. 2. H.T. had reportedly informed Lopez-Delgado that she was 14 before they had sex. *Id.* On December 4, 2017, the Sparks Police Department responded to a reported runaway and learned that H.T. had run away after she was confronted by her grandmother about her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State has filed a contemporaneous Motion to Transmit the Presentence Investigation Report. As the PSI is not included in the Joint Appendix, PSI page numbers reference the PSI's own pagination.

relationship with Lopez-Delgado. *Id.* After returning home, H.T. told officers that she had sex with a man she refused to name in a RV outside of his house. *Id.* 

On December 11, 2017, during a forensic interview, H.T. reported that she had a "kind of like girlfriend/boyfriend relationship" but refused to identify Lopez-Delgado by name. *Id.* H.T. also confirmed that she had informed Lopez-Delgado that she was 14 during their first meeting and before they had sex. PSI p. 6. H.T. specifically remembered the conversation because they discussed their age difference. *Id.* A Washoe County Sheriff's Office detective extracted H.T.'s phone and discovered that Lopez-Delgado's profile on the website where they met listed his age as 17. *Id.* During the course of their relationship, which started around November 5, 2017, Lopez-Delgado and H.T. engaged in vaginal intercourse about six or seven times and she also performed fellatio on him. *Id.* H.T. reported that the most recent sexual activity occurred on December 4, 2017, the same day that Sparks Police officers had responded to the runaway report. *Id.* All of the sexual activity occurred in the RV outside of Lopez-Delgado's house. *Id.* 

In reviewing the communications between Lopez-Delgado and H.T. that were obtained from H.T.'s phone, detectives observed that Lopez-

Delgado asked her to send him a picture of herself bending over. *Id.* H.T. responded with photographs showing her exposed buttocks and vagina. *Id.* Lopez-Delgado requested another photo from H.T. "like the last one, but spread open more." *Id.* After H.T. asked Lopez-Delgado if he wanted another photo, Lopez-Delgado requested a video. *Id.* H.T. obliged and sent Lopez-Delgado a video depicting her vagina. *Id.* 

Several days later, on November 11, 2017, Lopez-Delgado asked H.T. to send a pornographic photo of herself to another male. *Id.* Lopez-Delgado specifically instructed H.T. to "[s]how him your pussy. It's hot if you just send him a pic of your pussy spread." *Id.* Lopez-Delgado asked H.T. to send him a screenshot as confirmation that she had sent the photo. *Id.* The victim sent Lopez-Delgado several more sexually explicit photos over the following days. *Id.* 

On November 14, 2017, Lopez-Delgado instructed H.T. to delete their conversations and she responded with another photo of her vagina. *Id.*Lopez-Delgado responded to the photo the following day by telling H.T. that "you have a beautiful pussy." *Id.* H.T. sent Lopez-Delgado more explicit photos and Lopez-Delgado responded with specific requests for photos. *Id.* H.T. complied with Lopez-Delgado's requests for explicit photos of her genitals. *Id.* 

On November 16, 2017, Lopez-Delgado and H.T. had a conversation wherein they discussed their relationship. PSI p. 7. Lopez-Delgado told H.T. that he was unsure about dating her due to her age, but "I still want u." *Id.* When H.T. asked how long they would have to wait to date, Lopez-Delgado told her until she was 16. *Id.* The messages between Lopez-Delgado and H.T. continued through November 20, 2017.

On December 13, 2017, Lopez-Delgado was contacted by a detective. *Id.* Lopez-Delgado denied knowing H.T., denied using social media, denied using dating sites, and claimed he had not been in an intimate or physical relationship with anyone for over a year. *Id.* Lopez-Delgado stated that there was no reason that H.T.'s DNA would be in his RV. *Id.* After being confronted with the messages between himself and H.T., Lopez-Delgado claimed that he did not know her and had never seen her before invoking his right to counsel. *Id.* 

On December 14, 2017, detectives processed Lopez-Delgado's RV. *Id.*Subsequent analysis of the samples obtained from the RV showed that
H.T.'s DNA matched a stain with an estimated frequency of 1 in 21.66
octillion individuals. *Id.* 

///

///

### II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the district court abuse its discretion by sentencing Lopez-Delgado within statutory parameters?

#### III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

"A sentencing judge is allowed wide discretion in imposing a sentence; absent an abuse of discretion, the district court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal." Randell v. State, 109 Nev. 5, 8, 846 P.2d 278, 280 (1993). A sentence within the statutory limits is not cruel and unusual punishment where the statute itself is constitutional, and the sentence is not so unreasonably disproportionate as to shock the conscience. *See* Blume v. State, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996) *quoting* Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221-22 (1979).

### B. <u>Discussion</u>

Lopez-Delgado argues that the sentencing court ignored his presentation of mitigating evidence in passing sentence. Aside from running two of the sentences consecutively to one another, the court otherwise followed the joint recommendation of the parties. Therefore, the abuse of discretion argument necessarily suggests that the court abused its

///

discretion solely as to the imposition of a consecutive sentence and not as to the length of the sentences themselves.

It is undisputed in Nevada that a sentencing court has discretion to run sentences consecutively or concurrently with one another. *See e.g.*Pitmon v. State, 131 Nev. 123, 352 P.3d 655 (Ct. App. 2015); NRS 176.035(1) ("the court in imposing any subsequent sentence may provide that the sentences subsequently pronounced run either concurrently or consecutively with the sentence first imposed."). However, there is no requirement in Nevada that the sentencing court must specifically state each and every factor that was considered in imposing a sentence.

The record reflects that the sentencing court accepted letters that were offered in mitigation on Lopez-Delgado's behalf. JA 73-74. The court reviewed the PSI and the psychological evaluation that contained mitigating information in the form of his lack of prior criminal history and certification as not representing a high risk to reoffend. JA 73-74. The court demonstrated its familiarity with the contents of the PSI when the prosecutor provided it with an exhibit showing some of the conversations between Lopez-Delgado and H.T. JA 80.

The court weighed the aggravating factors (including the victim's age and Lopez-Delgado's demonstrated knowledge of her age prior to engaging

and continuing to engage in a sexual relationship with the juvenile victim)

with the mitigating information and reached its own conclusion about the

appropriate sentence. Just because the court disagreed with the

recommendation of the parties and weighed the aggravating factors more

heavily than the mitigating factors in reaching a conclusion does not mean

that the court ignored the mitigation information. The record of the

sentencing hearing shows the court's concern with the factual scenario set

forth in the PSI and Lopez-Delgado's demonstrated disregard for the

impact that his behavior might have on the victim even after learning about

her age. JA 76, 89. Running two of Lopez-Delgado's three sentences

consecutively to one another under those circumstances is not

unreasonable and does not demonstrate an abuse of discretion.

IV. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests that the Court deny Lopez-Delgado's

appeal and affirm his sentence.